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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

Newport News Division 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
 )  Case No. 4:19CR68 

v. )  
 ) 
LEONARDO MELO-RAMIREZ, ) 
 )     

Defendant. ) 

DEFENDANT’S OBJECTION TO DETENTION HEARING AND  
REQUEST FOR RELEASE ON CONDITIONS 

The defendant, Leonardo Melo-Ramirez, by counsel, hereby objects to the

Court holding a detention hearing in this case because no such hearing is authorized 

under § 3142(f).  Even if a detention hearing is authorized, Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s release 

on conditions is warranted.  Accordingly, we respectfully request his release. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Leonardo Melo-Ramirez is charged in a single-count indictment with reentry 

by a previously removed alien, in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a).  ECF No. 1.  Mr. Melo-

Ramirez made his initial appearance on June 21, 2019, at which time the government 

moved for a detention hearing.  The Court scheduled a detention hearing for

Wednesday, June 26, 2019, and detained Mr. Melo-Ramirez on a temporary detention 

order until that hearing.  

LAW & ARGUMENT 

“In our society liberty is the norm, and detention prior to trial or without trial is 

the carefully limited exception.”  , 481 U.S. 739, 755 (1987). 
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The Bail Reform Act (BRA) provides those limited exceptions.  Because the 

government cannot meet its heavy burden of showing that no combination of 

release conditions would reasonably assure the safety of the community and Mr. 

Melo-Ramirez’s appearance as directed, the Court should grant his release. 

I. The BRA does not permit pretrial detention or the holding of a detention 
hearing based solely on a defendant’s immigration status or the existence 
of an ICE detainer.

The BRA demands an individualized analysis of the § 3142(g) factors to 

determine whether a defendant should be released on bond prior to trial.  

, 794 F. 3d 1088, 1092 (9th Cir. 2015) (“The court may not [ ] 

substitute a categorical denial of bail for the individualized evaluation required by the 

Bail Reform Act”).  Because § 3142(g) demands such an individualized analysis, this 

Court cannot categorically deny bond to removable aliens solely on the basis of their 

immigration status or the existence of an immigration detainer.  

, 752 F. App’x 601, 604 (10th Cir. 2018) (holding that defendant “cannot 

be detained solely because he is a removable alien”); , 794 F.3d 1088, 1092 

(9th Cir. 2015) (“We conclude that the district court erred in relying on the existence of 

an ICE detainer and the probability of Santos–Flores’s immigration detention and 

removal from the United States to find that no condition or combination of conditions 

will reasonably assure Santos-Flores’s appearance pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 

3142(e).”); , 638 F.Sup.2d 1108, 1111 (D. Minn. 2009) 

(concluding that the mere presence of an ICE detainer does not override Congress’ 

detention plan in § 3142(g)); , 536 F. Supp. 2d 962, 968 
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(E.D. Wis. 2008) (“[I]t would be improper to consider only defendant’s immigration 

status, to the exclusion of the § 3142(g) factors, as the government suggests.”).

In asking the Court to consider the presence of an ICE detainer, the government 

may suggest that the risk of Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s removal by ICE were he released on 

bond presents a cognizable risk of non-appearance under the BRA.  But the risk that 

the government will remove Mr. Melo-Ramirez from the United States while this case 

is pending does not qualify as a risk of flight under the BRA.  The BRA contemplates 

the risk that the defendant will flee—i.e., make a voluntary decision not to appear as 

directed.1  Being forcibly removed from the country by ICE is not voluntary flight.  

Moreover, the Executive Branch’s Department of Justice should not be able to 

threaten that, if this Court follows the law under the Bail Reform Act, another arm of 

the Executive Branch (ICE/DHS) will cause the defendant not to be available for trial.  

If this Court orders release under the BRA and the Executive Branch chooses to 

prioritize Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s removal over this prosecution, it is free to do so by 

dismissing this case and processing Mr. Melo-Ramirez for removal.  But the Executive 

cannot hold the courts and Mr. Melo-Ramirez hostage over the prospect that it may 

                                                            
1 Most courts that have considered the issue, including the only two circuit courts to do 
so, have concluded that § 3142(f)(2)(A) only refers to flight risks, which does 
not include the risk that the person will be removed by ICE. , , 875 
F.3d at 1337 (10th Cir. 2017) (holding that “a risk of involuntary removal does not 
establish a serious risk that [the defendant] will flee”); , 
794 F.3d 1088, 1091 (9th Cir. 2015) (holding that “the risk of nonappearance referenced 
in 18 U.S.C. § 3142 must involve an element of volition”); , 
No. 3:18mj18, 2018 WL 3715765, at *2 (W.D. Va. Aug. 3, 2018) (same); , 
638 F. Supp. 2d at 1111 (same); , No. 4:08cr3174, 
2009 WL 103596, at *5 (D. Neb. Jan. 13, 2009) (same). 
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make such a choice.  , 900 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1180 

(D. Or. 2012) (“[I]f the Executive Branch chooses to forgo criminal prosecution of Mr. 

Alvarez-Trujillo on the pending charge of illegal reentry and deport him from the 

United States, as previously stated, there is nothing further for this Court to do.”).  

 It is beyond peradventure that the BRA’s standard provisions apply to cases 

involving aliens.  Section 3142(d)(1)(B) provides for the temporary detention of 

removable aliens “for a period of not more than ten days” if the court finds that the 

individual may flee or poses a danger to any other person or the community.  18 U.S.C. 

§ 3142(d).  If the court fails to make such a finding, the court must treat the individual 

in accordance with the other provisions of the BRA.  18 U.S.C. § 3142(d)(2).  Likewise, 

if DHS “fails or declines to take such person into custody during that [ten-day 

temporary detention] period, such person shall be treated in accordance with the other 

provisions of [the Bail Reform Act].”  § 3142(d)(2).  The other provisions of the BRA

require release unless the government meets its heavy burden of showing the person 

presents an unmitigatable risk of flight.  Accordingly, § 3142(d) explicitly makes 

removable aliens subject to the BRA’s general standard for pretrial release and

therefore implicitly authorizes their release on bond.   

II. The Court should not give undue weight to an illegal reentry defendant’s 
alleged removability, citizenship status, or generic ties to a foreign 
country.

Even if the Court agrees that immigration status or the presence of an ICE 

detainer does not categorically preclude a person’s release pending trial, the Court may 

be inclined to give considerable weight to those facts or to the foreign ties every alien 
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inherently has to his native country when considering release or detention under 

§ 3142(g).  But the Court should be cautious not to create a presumption of 

detention that does not exist in the statute. 

As the Tenth Circuit has observed, “although Congress established a rebuttable 

presumption that certain defendants should be detained, it did not include removable 

aliens on that list.”  , 875 F.3d 1334, 1338 (10th Cir. 2017).  

Thus, Congress knew how to identify cases in which grounds for detention are intrinsic 

to the alleged offense.  We also know that Congress explicitly contemplated the BRA 

applying to non-citizen, non-LPRs who may be subject to detention by ICE (formerly 

INS).   § 3142(d).  So merely pointing to the defendant’s status as a non-citizen, to 

his alleged removability, or to his generic ties to a foreign country2 cannot be enough 

for the government to meet its burden of proving that no condition will “reasonably 

assure the appearance of the person as required.”  § 3142(e)(1).  Indeed, if the only 

evidence of the defendant’s flight risk consists of his foreign citizenship, immigration 

status, and the offense charged—even if the defense presents no evidence mitigating 

the risk of non-appearance—the person should be released.  Otherwise, the Court will 

have found that facts intrinsic to the offense are sufficient to justify detention in the 

                                                            
2 We acknowledge that  ties to a foreign country—assets, family ties, etc.—
should be treated as they are in any other case.  But the government often merely relies 
on an illegal reentry defendant’s status as a citizen of another country as the sole means 
of establishing a tie to that country.  This nonspecific tie to a foreign country is inherent 
in every illegal reentry case—an element of the offense is that the person is not a U.S. 
citizen.  Therefore, giving significant weight to an illegal reentry defendant’s implicit 
ties to his native country undermines Congress’s clear intention not to have § 1326(d) 
offenses give rise to a presumption of detention under § 3142(f).
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absence of some proof by the defense.  That is the equivalent to a rebuttable 

presumption of detention for illegal reentry offenses, which Congress could have but

affirmatively chose not to create.   

The presence of an ICE detainer may not be strictly intrinsic to the offense, but 

it adds nothing to the picture.  The detainer says on its face that this “detainer arises 

from DHS authorities and .”  DHS 

Form I-247A (emphasis added).3  Implicit in the charged offense is the allegation that 

the defendant has been removed before and is subject to removal again.  Because the 

detainer adds nothing to this backdrop and explicitly states that it should not impact 

decisions about bail, it is unclear why the government so often cites these ICE detainers 

at detention hearings under the BRA.

 Concluding that the facts intrinsic to an illegal reentry charge effectively create 

a presumption of detention would have an enormous impact.  In Fiscal Year 2018, the 

government brought over 18,000 illegal reentry cases, which made up 26% of all federal 

criminal prosecutions.  U.S.S.C., 

, at 58 (2018).4  Congress chose not to 

create a presumption of pretrial detention for these thousands of people annually facing 

                                                            
3 https://www.ice.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Document/2017/I-
247A.pdf (last accessed June 24, 2019). 
 
4  https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-
publications/federal-sentencing-statistics/guideline-application-
frequencies/2018/Use_of_SOC_Guideline_Based.pdf (last accessed June 24, 2019). 
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one of the least serious felony charges5 available in the federal system.  That choice 

should have consequences. 

III. Detention pending trial is not warranted based on the facts of this case. 

The first § 3142(g) factor, the nature and circumstances of the offense, weighs 

strongly in favor of release.  It is beyond dispute that this offense does not fall within 

any of the categories of serious offenses enumerated in § 3142(g)(1).  Illegal reentry is 

a regulatory offense that involves no victim, weapon, or controlled substance.  And there 

is no allegation that Mr. Melo-Ramirez committed this generally non-violent offense in 

any particularly aggravating way.  , 330 F. Supp. 

3d 1118, 1137 (N.D. Iowa 2018) (ordering defendant’s release under BRA and observing 

that “[t]here is no allegation that his reentry, apart from being unlawful, harmed any 

particular person or place”).

Although the offense charged is a felony, Mr. Melo-Ramirez faces a maximum 

of only two years on prison.  8 U.S.C. § 1326(a).  If convicted, Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s 

guidelines will likely call for 0 to 6 months in custody.   U.S.S.G. § 2L1.2(a) 

(providing base offense level of 8, which—absent specific offense enhancements not 

foreseen here—leads to a guidelines range of 0 to 6 months even after trial for 

defendants in Criminal History Category I).  The likely sentence if convicted confirms 

that the nature and circumstances of the offense are among the least serious in the 

                                                            
5 The two-year statutory maximum penalty for this offense is among the lowest possible 
in a felony case and is substantially lower than that faced by white-collar defendants 
who are routinely granted bond.   § 1326(d) (providing two-year statutory 
maximum for illegal reentry), 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (30 years for bank fraud); 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1343 (20 years for wire fraud).  
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federal system.  , 919 F.3d 546, 551 (D.C. Cir. 2019) 

(affirming order releasing defendant under BRA and noting that “illegal reentry is a 

nonviolent crime” which, in that case, “appear[ed] to carry with it a relatively low 

penalty”).  The seriousness of the penalty faced, if convicted, also does not create a 

serious risk that Mr. Melo-Ramirez will attempt to flee if released on bond.   

The second (g) factor, concerning the weight of the evidence, is largely unknown 

at this point.  Because the government does not produce discovery before detention 

hearings, the government’s summary of the expected evidence at the detention 

hearing—the only proffer the Court is likely to hear on this factor—will be the view of 

one adversary without the other side having the benefit of a meaningful opportunity 

to respond.  Even if the government’s evidence seems strong at first blush, the 

underlying removal order may well be subject to collateral attack.   § 1326(d); 

, 434 F.3d 659, 663 (4th Cir. 2005) (“Because a 

deportation order is an element of the offense of illegal reentry, the Supreme Court 

has recognized that an alien can collaterally attack the propriety of the original 

deportation order in the later criminal proceeding.”).  At any rate, this Court should 

not place too much emphasis on the weight of the evidence because doing so is akin to 

applying a presumption of guilt, which is expressly forbidden under § 3142(j).  Even if 

the Court chooses to consider the weight of the evidence supporting guilt, this should 

be treated as the “least important” of the § 3142(g) factors. 

, 897 F.2d 989, 994 (9th Cir. 1990); , 566 F. Supp. 2d 

288, 292 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (“Courts generally consider the Weight Factor as the ‘least 
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important’ of the Factors.”) 

The third (g) factor is the history and characteristics of the person.  This factor 

strongly favors release: 

Criminal history: Even though Mr. Melo-Ramirez is 49 years old, he has 
never been convicted of a crime.  

Incentive to flee:  If Mr. Melo-Ramirez is removable, “he must not flee if 
he wishes to preserve his opportunity to obtain withholding of removal in 
his immigration case.”  , 919 F.3d at 551.  The D.C. 
Circuit found this to be a critical factor supporting the release of the 
illegal-reentry defendant in .    As noted above, the 
prospect of punishment in this case also does not create a strong incentive 
to flee.  So Mr. Melo-Ramirez has an affirmative incentive to appear as 
directed to resolve his immigration case favorably and this prosecution 
does not create a strong incentive to flee.

Employment: Mr. Melo-Ramirez has been steadily employed at the same 
job for years, working the kitchen of a local pizza parlor.  According to a 
co-worker and his boss, Mr. Melo-Ramirez works basically all of the time.  
He is regarded as a dependable employee, who does what is asked of him.  
Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s ability to maintain employment and his reliability in 
meeting the demands of his employer show his capacity to comply with 
whatever release conditions this Court sets.  Other courts have found 
employment to be an important factor at detention hearings in illegal 
reentry cases.  , , No. 18mj30320, 
2018 WL 2979692, at *1 (E.D. Mich. June 14, 2018) (releasing defendant 
and holding that his self-employment for two years as a handyman 
weighed in favor of release); , 275 F. 
Supp. 3d 1284, 1293 (D. Utah 2017) (releasing defendant and observing 
that “Mr. Lizardi-Maldonado has worked in the past for two separate 
employers for a number of years. Both employers wrote letters in favor of 
Mr. Lizardi-Maldonado attesting to his hard work and good nature.”).
 
Character: The defense interviewed Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s friend, Lucas 
Jimenez, who told the defense that Mr. Melo-Ramirez is a “good person” 
whom he trusts and respects.  When the defense asked Mr. Jimenez 
whether he thought Mr. Melo-Ramirez would appear in court as directed, 
Mr. Jimenez said that he absolutely thought his friend would appear.  As 
noted above, the defense also interviewed Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s boss, 
Hasan Cinar.  Mr. Cinar said that Mr. Melo-Ramirez could live with Mr. 
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Cinar in his wife in their apartment on Jefferson Avenue in Newport 
News if he were released on bond.  (Mr. Melo-Ramirez had been living 
with Mr. Cinar at the time of his arrest.)  Mr. Cinar provided counsel 
with what appeared to be a valid Virginia driver’s license listing the full 
address he had previously provided and a date of birth that pretrial 
services could use to run a criminal history check.  Mr. Cinar described 
Mr. Melo-Ramirez as a “good, good man” and a reliable employee.  Mr. 
Cinar’s assessment of Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s character is particularly 
credible because Mr. Melo-Ramirez both worked for and lived with Mr. 
Cinar.  Finally, the defense interviewed another co-worker of Mr. Melo-
Ramirez who attested to his good character, work ethic, and reliability.   
 

With respect to the fourth (g) factor, the nature and seriousness of the danger 

posed by the person’s release, the defense submits that this factor cannot be considered 

in an (f)(2) case such as this.6  The Court need not resolve that question here, however, 

because there is no evidence that Mr. Melo-Ramirez poses a danger to the community 

or any other person.   

Statistical evidence suggests that federal courts are detaining too many people 

pretrial, and specifically detaining too many so-called “illegal aliens.”  According to the 

Department of Justice, only 1% of pretrial supervisees fail to appear as directed.   

Thomas H. Cohen, Ph.D., U.S. Dept. of Justice, Bur. of Statistics, 

, at 15 (Nov. 2012).7 The evidence 

shows that 

                                                            
6  , 797 F.2d 156, 157 (3d Cir. 1986) (holding that, under the 
Bail Reform Act, an accused taken into custody may not be detained pending trial based 
on danger to the community where the detention hearing was justified only by an 
alleged serious risk of flight pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f)(2)(A)). 
 
7  https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/prmfdc0810.pdf (last accessed June 
26, 2019).
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  Moreover, compared to U.S. citizens, illegal aliens 

were dramatically more likely to comply with other conditions of release8 and 

significantly less likely to have their bond revoked.9    This suggests that a person’s 

status as an “illegal alien” may not actually create the risk of flight that it is so often 

assumed to create.   

The universally low rates of non-appearance generally suggest that courts may 

be requiring more than  that defendants will appear.  “Section 

3142 does not seek ironclad guarantees, and the requirement that the conditions of 

release ‘reasonably assure’ a defendant’s appearance cannot be read to require 

guarantees against flight.”  , 820 F. Supp. 1205, 1208 (N.D. Cal. 

1992).  As in every case, there is risk that Mr. Melo-Ramirez will flee and this 

Court cannot guarantee his appearance.  But no good evidence suggests that his status 

as an “illegal alien” meaningfully increases his risk of flight.  And, in the end, there is 

no statutory basis to deprive this innocent person of his liberty.   

The government cannot demonstrate that this case involves a serious risk that 

Mr. Melo-Ramirez will flee under § 3142(f)(2)(A).  At the very least, this Court can 

craft conditions that will reasonably assure Mr. Melo-Ramirez’s appearance as 

directed.  We respectfully request his release.

 

                                                            
8 Whereas 22% of U.S. citizens on bond had at least one bond violation, only 2% of illegal 
aliens had at least one bond violation.     
 
9 U.S. citizens were twelve times more likely that illegal aliens to have their bond 
revoked.   
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Respectfully submitted, 

 
      LEONARDO MELO-RAMIREZ 
 
     By:  _________/s/________________ 
       

Andrew W. Grindrod
Virginia State Bar No. 83943 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Office of the Federal Public Defender
150 Boush Street, Suite 403 
Norfolk, Virginia 23510
Phone:  (757) 457-0800
Fax: (757) 457-0880 
Email: andrew_grindrod@fd.org 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that on the 26th day of June, 2019, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will then send a 

notification of such filing (NEF) to the following: 

Jeremy I. Franker  
United States Attorney Office (Newport News)  
721 Lakefront Commons, Suite 300  
Newport News, VA 23606  
Email: jeremy.franker2@usdoj.gov 
 
 

 
_________/s/________________ 

       
Andrew W. Grindrod 
Virginia State Bar No.  83943 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Office of the Federal Public Defender 
150 Boush Street, Suite 403 
Norfolk, Virginia 23510 
Phone:  (757) 457-0800 
Fax: (757) 457-0880 
Email: andrew_grindrod@fd.org 
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v. Xulam, 84 F.3d 441, 443 (D.C. Cir. 1996)

United States v. 

O'Brien, 895 F.2d 810, 816 (1st Cir. 1990)

and

See United States v. Sabhnani, 493 F.3d 63, 74-75 
(2d Cir. 2007)

O'Brien



IV. Statutory Factors

§ 3142(g)



attempt

guarantee



and

18 U.S.C. § 3145

CONCLUSION

DENIES
ORDERS

RELEASED

STAYED
18 U.S.C. §3145

End of Document
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Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of Bail 
Reform

o

o

o

o
male

The Rising Federal Pretrial Detention Rate, in Context

o

o

Pretrial Release and Misconduct in Federal District Courts, 2008–
2010

o



o

o

Race, Gender, and Pretrial Detention: Indirect Effects and Cumulative 
Disadvantage

o

o

o

Federal Pretrial Release and Detention, 1996
o

Report of the Working Committees to the Second Circuit Task Force on Gender, Racial 
and Ethnic Fairness in the Courts

o

o

o



Report of the Special Committee on Race and Ethnicity to the D.C. Circuit Task Force on 
Gender, Race, and Ethnic Bias Special Committee on Race and Ethnicity

o

Pretrial Release of Federal Felony Defendants

o





Felony
Misde-
meanor Other

193,632 53,476 27.6 8,761 16.4 406 505 65 618 8,086 13,544

1ST 6,927 2,333 33.7 221 9.5 11 13 0 10 202 317

ME 545 253 46.4 51 20.2 5 2 0 1 46 62
MA 1,650 659 39.9 73 11.1 3 1 0 4 70 105
NH 544 227 41.7 29 12.8 2 6 0 1 22 35
RI 386 158 40.9 33 20.9 1 4 0 1 32 68
PR 3,802 1,036 27.2 35 3.4 0 0 0 3 32 47

2ND 11,311 5,022 44.4 771 15.4 82 89 19 53 658 1,151

CT 1,295 605 46.7 101 16.7 7 5 2 9 93 153
NY,N 931 294 31.6 52 17.7 2 5 3 16 42 66
NY,E 3,148 1,393 44.3 206 14.8 12 18 4 6 191 345
NY,S 4,093 1,841 45.0 215 11.7 47 37 5 21 154 309
NY,W 1,421 709 49.9 136 19.2 11 19 5 1 119 188
VT 423 180 42.6 61 33.9 3 5 0 0 59 90

3RD 8,536 3,453 40.5 421 12.2 29 27 7 19 404 648

DE 325 73 22.5 2 2.7 0 0 0 0 2 3
NJ 3,027 1,427 47.1 88 6.2 8 5 1 11 80 114
PA,E 2,000 740 37.0 134 18.1 5 7 2 4 132 260
PA,M 1,400 415 29.6 48 11.6 1 3 2 2 42 58
PA,W 1,504 677 45.0 133 19.6 14 12 2 0 133 192
VI 280 121 43.2 16 13.2 1 0 0 2 15 21

4TH 12,096 4,192 34.7 727 17.3 19 54 7 33 657 1,055

MD 1,606 610 38.0 114 18.7 4 8 0 4 111 200
NC,E 1,950 505 25.9 104 20.6 5 15 3 6 83 150
NC,M 725 228 31.4 39 17.1 0 1 0 1 39 47
NC,W 1,248 274 22.0 35 12.8 1 5 1 0 30 38
SC 2,289 834 36.4 119 14.3 2 4 0 8 108 138
VA,E 2,271 975 42.9 110 11.3 2 14 3 9 90 147
VA,W 710 241 33.9 32 13.3 3 3 0 4 27 42
WV,N 663 340 51.3 140 41.2 2 4 0 1 137 244
WV,S 634 185 29.2 34 18.4 0 0 0 0 32 49

5TH 41,557 6,975 16.8 852 12.2 41 30 6 61 791 1,000

LA,E 852 278 32.6 23 8.3 1 2 0 1 20 32
LA,M 445 162 36.4 24 14.8 1 3 0 0 21 33
LA,W 830 205 24.7 6 2.9 1 0 0 0 5 6
MS,N 434 178 41.0 28 15.7 2 2 0 1 25 36
MS,S 1,071 268 25.0 11 4.1 2 2 0 0 7 12
TX,N 2,389 871 36.5 123 14.1 2 5 3 8 116 151
TX,E 1,828 331 18.1 34 10.3 4 3 0 2 35 40
TX,S 16,714 2,451 14.7 251 10.2 28 12 3 24 227 271
TX,W 16,994 2,231 13.1 352 15.8 0 1 0 25 335 419

Table H-15.
U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services Violations Summary Report
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Pct.
Total Cases 

Open
Reports 
to Court

TOTAL

Rearrest Violations

FTA 
Violations

Technical 
Violations

Cases In 
Release 
Status

Cases with 
Violations Pct.

Circuit and 
District



Felony
Misde-
meanor Other

Table H-15.
U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services Violations Summary Report
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Pct.
Total Cases 

Open
Reports 
to Court

Rearrest Violations

FTA 
Violations

Technical 
Violations

Cases In 
Release 
Status

Cases with 
Violations Pct.

Circuit and 
District

6TH 13,288 4,675 35.2 950 20.3 48 55 2 39 895 1,691

KY,E 1,104 277 25.1 24 8.7 0 0 0 1 23 28
KY,W 921 370 40.2 52 14.1 4 3 0 2 49 67
MI,E 2,444 1,105 45.2 270 24.4 8 8 0 5 265 572
MI,W 770 280 36.4 53 18.9 4 3 0 4 48 67
OH,N 1,957 655 33.5 66 10.1 2 6 1 12 61 109
OH,S 1,855 817 44.0 193 23.6 0 0 0 3 189 341
TN,E 1,826 357 19.6 46 12.9 1 2 0 1 41 54
TN,M 942 314 33.3 104 33.1 22 15 0 2 90 193
TN,W 1,469 500 34.0 142 28.4 7 18 1 9 129 260

7TH 7,659 2,787 36.4 498 17.9 21 36 4 7 466 829

IL,N 2,837 1,226 43.2 228 18.6 13 25 2 4 211 397
IL,C 679 190 28.0 26 13.7 0 1 0 0 25 30
IL,S 631 219 34.7 56 25.6 2 6 1 1 49 89
IN,N 970 306 31.5 19 6.2 3 1 0 1 16 21
IN,S 1,464 391 26.7 87 22.3 0 0 0 1 88 143
WI,E 749 365 48.7 68 18.6 3 3 1 0 63 126
WI,W 329 90 27.4 14 15.6 0 0 0 0 14 23

8TH 13,966 4,318 30.9 1,296 30.0 67 107 16 52 1,219 2,673

AR,E 1,852 723 39.0 243 33.6 22 19 2 26 223 420
AR,W 687 124 18.0 9 7.3 0 0 0 3 7 7
IA,N 830 194 23.4 76 39.2 3 12 1 2 70 116
IA,S 1,098 295 26.9 120 40.7 2 12 10 1 113 183
MN 941 360 38.3 71 19.7 4 9 1 3 63 96
MO,E 3,165 890 28.1 406 45.6 14 7 0 7 400 1,294
MO,W 2,285 589 25.8 133 22.6 5 9 1 2 123 213
NE 1,177 407 34.6 74 18.2 6 12 1 2 66 94
ND 792 307 38.8 44 14.3 2 4 0 6 40 57
SD 1,139 429 37.7 120 28.0 9 23 0 0 114 193

9TH 51,567 12,095 23.5 1,941 16.0 33 40 0 253 1,806 2,722

AK 441 134 30.4 23 17.2 1 2 0 1 21 29
AZ 21,165 2,164 10.2 455 21.0 2 15 0 75 433 571
CA,N 2,472 1,149 46.5 151 13.1 0 1 0 11 145 287
CA,E 2,014 714 35.5 61 8.5 2 0 0 9 58 65
CA,C 6,028 2,165 35.9 218 10.1 10 4 0 26 203 294
CA,S 11,880 2,521 21.2 474 18.8 7 7 0 104 409 604
HI 539 280 51.9 42 15.0 0 0 0 0 41 59
ID 763 219 28.7 47 21.5 1 1 0 4 46 59
MT 776 277 35.7 48 17.3 2 3 0 1 48 60
NV 1,589 559 35.2 83 14.8 0 1 0 7 81 101
OR 1,350 672 49.8 164 24.4 6 3 0 7 153 282
WA,E 914 339 37.1 74 21.8 1 1 0 3 71 126
WA,W 1,448 762 52.6 80 10.5 1 2 0 5 76 143
GUAM 150 120 80.0 17 14.2 0 0 0 0 17 37
NM,I 38 20 52.6 4 20.0 0 0 0 0 4 5



Felony
Misde-
meanor Other

Table H-15.
U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services Violations Summary Report
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Pct.
Total Cases 

Open
Reports 
to Court

Rearrest Violations

FTA 
Violations

Technical 
Violations

Cases In 
Release 
Status

Cases with 
Violations Pct.

Circuit and 
District

10TH 12,696 3,081 24.3 465 15.1 10 11 0 60 436 625

CO 1,280 413 32.3 50 12.1 1 1 0 31 44 62
KS 1,182 412 34.9 84 20.4 2 1 0 3 83 118
NM 6,621 999 15.1 119 11.9 0 0 0 13 120 128
OK,N 563 207 36.8 68 32.9 0 0 0 3 66 135
OK,E 268 55 20.5 3 5.5 0 0 0 1 2 3
OK,W 1,223 502 41.0 66 13.1 1 2 0 2 59 89
UT 1,192 375 31.5 66 17.6 6 7 0 4 54 83
WY 367 118 32.2 9 7.6 0 0 0 3 8 7

11TH 14,029 4,545 32.4 619 13.6 45 43 4 31 552 833

AL,N 1,131 352 31.1 56 15.9 7 4 0 4 50 86
AL,M 392 172 43.9 20 11.6 0 0 0 5 16 27
AL,S 722 233 32.3 46 19.7 4 3 0 1 40 49
FL,N 757 305 40.3 30 9.8 6 3 3 1 24 41
FL,M 3,409 958 28.1 154 16.1 10 12 0 5 144 219
FL,S 3,879 1,321 34.1 156 11.8 0 0 0 3 149 198
GA,N 1,861 655 35.2 85 13.0 8 11 1 8 69 115
GA,M 970 351 36.2 51 14.5 8 8 0 4 40 71
GA,S 908 198 21.8 21 10.6 2 2 0 0 20 27

NOTE:  This table excludes data for the District of Columbia and includes transfers received.
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122,777 31,030,248 253 185

1ST 4,586 2,102,277 458 213
ME 356 83,367 234 166
MA 904 269,468 298 213
NH 335 83,046 247 202
RI 208 78,767 378 295
PR 2,783 1,587,629 570 406

2ND 6,028 3,188,528 529 259
CT 670 238,402 355 245
NY,N 639 224,152 350 205
NY,E 1,463 1,294,023 884 471
NY,S 2,136 994,681 465 344
NY,W 826 360,609 436 273
VT 294 76,661 260 190

3RD 4,363 1,758,426 403 261
DE 195 65,885 337 256
NJ 1,169 379,834 324 228
PA,E 1,123 455,344 405 266
PA,M 880 442,917 503 399
PA,W 821 367,766 447 309
VI 175 46,680 266 164

4TH 7,675 1,822,333 237 173
MD 935 287,090 307 241
NC,E 1,415 369,514 261 206
NC,M 456 74,025 162 147
NC,W 938 227,963 243 216
SC 1,404 423,037 301 232
VA,E 1,207 179,108 148 135
VA,W 468 102,452 218 173
WV,N 388 73,099 188 154
WV,S 464 86,045 185 169

5TH 31,117 5,596,858 180 185
LA,E 529 220,654 417 296
LA,M 276 78,940 286 191
LA,W 530 154,635 291 196
MS,N 222 42,963 193 179
MS,S 799 234,199 293 185
TX,N 1,383 319,588 231 179
TX,E 1,387 351,537 253 222
TX,S 11,818 1,973,183 166 129
TX,W 14,173 2,221,159 156 126

Table H-9A.

TOTAL

Total Number of 
Defendants

Total Number of 
Days Detained

Average Number 
of Days Detained

U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services
Detention Summary:  Days, Average and Median
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Circuit and 
District

Median Number of 
Days Detained



Table H-9A.

Total Number of 
Defendants

Total Number of 
Days Detained

Average Number 
of Days Detained

U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services
Detention Summary:  Days, Average and Median
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Circuit and 
District

Median Number of 
Days Detained

6TH 8,554 2,356,721 276 189
KY,E 842 197,435 234 185
KY,W 568 145,592 256 179
MI,E 1,259 381,512 303 189
MI,W 505 84,527 167 143
OH,N 1,309 312,683 238 188
OH,S 1,019 296,057 290 235
TN,E 1,459 415,389 284 228
TN,M 619 253,025 408 287
TN,W 974 270,501 277 217

7TH 4,783 1,843,394 385 249
IL,N 1,552 774,815 499 298
IL,C 488 171,213 350 270
IL,S 430 101,202 235 181
IN,N 660 286,835 434 249
IN,S 1,079 361,502 335 261
WI,E 355 110,248 310 211
WI,W 219 37,579 171 161

8TH 9,893 2,791,367 282 182
AR,E 1,046 369,334 353 277
AR,W 463 94,453 204 182
IA,N 641 139,885 218 174
IA,S 920 317,589 345 218
MN 562 138,867 247 200
MO,E 2,230 502,111 225 182
MO,W 1,832 711,362 388 301
NE 827 199,034 240 158
ND 537 128,714 239 180
SD 835 190,018 227 164

9TH 28,434 6,098,299 214 174
AK 330 105,296 319 264
AZ 11,448 1,626,805 142 108
CA,N 1,261 1,167,389 925 339
CA,E 1,038 363,830 350 259
CA,C 2,047 827,050 404 229
CA,S 8,265 928,349 112 69
HI 245 62,507 255 167
ID 564 118,444 210 166
MT 555 106,519 191 174
NV 785 300,953 383 305
OR 742 216,483 291 212
WA,E 572 129,282 226 143
WA,W 521 112,794 216 176
GUAM 44 21,614 491 95
NM,I 17 10,984 646 7



Table H-9A.

Total Number of 
Defendants

Total Number of 
Days Detained

Average Number 
of Days Detained

U.S. District Courts ---- Pretrial Services
Detention Summary:  Days, Average and Median
For the 12-Month Period Ending September 30, 2019

Circuit and 
District

Median Number of 
Days Detained

10TH 9,576 1,738,704 182 180
CO 827 181,425 219 172
KS 745 263,981 354 209
NM 5,765 786,182 136 49
OK,N 349 54,694 156 131
OK,E 173 34,210 197 188
OK,W 606 131,433 216 187
UT 848 214,143 252 217
WY 263 72,636 276 125

11TH 7,768 1,733,341 223 172
AL,N 716 145,230 202 172
AL,M 180 56,885 316 217
AL,S 537 112,758 209 140
FL,N 388 58,801 151 113
FL,M 2,079 438,895 211 155
FL,S 1,827 261,834 143 113
GA,N 855 409,014 478 230
GA,M 517 117,062 226 180
GA,S 669 132,862 198 181

NOTE:  This table excludes data for the District of Columbia, and includes transfers received
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FEDERAL PRETRIAL 
DETENTION 

CRISIS

FCJC Federal Bail Reform Project

•First federal courtwatching initiative
•Meeting with federal judges
•Testifying/advocating to Congress 
•Training Fed Defenders & CJA
•Writing BRA of  2021
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Hearing: The Administration of  Bail by 
State and Federal Courts: A Call for Reform
House Representative Jerrold Nadler (D. NY.) (11/14/19) 
• “In the federal context, the reforms of  the past have proven to be 

insufficient in balancing a defendant’s liberty interest and ensuring that 
communities remain safe.” 

• “[R]elease rates have steeply declined” since the passage of  the Bail 
Reform Act of  1984.

• “[S]urely community safety does not justify this trend.” 

https://judiciary.house.gov/legislation/hearings/administration-bail-state-and-
federal-courts-call-reform

Clients of  color are detained 
pretrial at a much higher 
rate than White clients

Federal Pretrial Detention Crisis: 
RACE
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Federal Release Rates Lower than
State Felony Release Rates

STATE release rates
• 62% release rate for state felonies, large urban counties
• 55% release rate for VIOLENT state felonies 
U.S. Dept. of  Justice Bureau of  Justice Statistics, Felony Defendants in Large Urban Counties, 
2009, at 15 (Dec. 2013), https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fdluc09.pdf

FEDERAL release rates (2018)
• 25% release rate nationally 
• 39% release rate nationally (excl. immigration)
AO Table H-14 (Sept. 30, 2018), https://www.uscourts.gov/statistics/table/h-14/judicial-
business/2018/09/30; AO Table H-14A, https://www.uscourts.gov/statistics/table/h-14a/judicial-
business/2018/09/30

Federal Pretrial Detention CRISIS

• 1984: BRA enacted
• 1985: 81% of  defendants released pretrial 
• 1996: 66% released 
• 2006: 37% released 

•2018: 25% released (39% excl immig)

Data sources
• 1985: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/prd-bra84.pdf (Table 1)
• 1996: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fprd96.pdf (Table 1)
• 2006: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/html/fjsst/2006/fjs06st.pdf (Table 3.1)
• 2018: https://www.uscourts.gov/statistics/table/h-14/judicial-business/2018/09/30 

(Table H-14); see also Table H-14A
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Federal System Less Violent than State

FEDERAL
•2% of  arrestees are violent offenders
U.S. Dept. of  Justice Bureau of  Justice Statistics, Federal Justice Statistics 2015–2016, at 3, 11 (Jan. 2019), 
https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fjs1516.pdf.

STATE
•25% of  all felony cases involve violent crimes
U.S. Dept. of  Justice Bureau of  Justice Statistics, Felony Defendants in Large Urban Counties, 2009, at 2 (Dec. 2013), 
https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fdluc09.pdf

Almost Everyone on Bond Appears 
and Does Not Reoffend!

Federal defendants released on bond (2018)
•99% appeared for court
•98% did not commit new crimes

(Source: AO Table H-15, 9/30/18)
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Almost Everyone on Bond Appears 
and Does Not Reoffend!

EDLA: Federal clients released on bond (2018)
•100% appeared for court
•98% did not commit new crimes

(Source: AO Table H-15, 9/30/18)

Federal Defendants on Bond Rarely 
Flee or Recidivate (AO Table H-15, 9/30/18)

içïÉëí=RW=
pK`^I=
tK^oI=
bKqkI=
moI=
pKqu

eáÖÜÉëí=RW=
dì~ãI=
tKt^I=
jK^iI=
bKtfI=ef=

20.50%

1.44% 0.59%

69.94%

1.37% 1.04%
0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%
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Racial Disparities 
in Federal Pretrial Detention

Black and Latinx clients are more 
likely to be detained pretrial than 

White clients

Federal Pretrial Detention Crisis:
RACE
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Most comprehensive race study ever
•2002 to 2016
•Over 300,000 defendants
•81 of  the 94 federal district courts 

Stephanie Holmes Didwania
Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: 

Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform (2020)
(FCJC alum)

Federal Pretrial Detention Rates by Race: 
Clients of  color detained at a higher rate

51%

68%
64%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

All defendants

White Black Hispanic

Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 22
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Federal Pretrial Detention Rates by Race:
Male clients of  color detained at a higher rate

51%
54%

68%
74%

64%
69%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

All defendants Male defendants

White Black Hispanic

Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 22

A black male client is 20 percentage points and a 
Hispanic male client is 15 percentage points more 

likely to be detained than a white client

Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 22

Racial Disparities in Federal Pretrial Detention



2/17/2020

9

• Control variables: base offense level, indigence, criminal 
history, age, and education level, as well as geography and even 
courthouse specific trends.
• Even after controlling for everything
• Black clients 3% more likely to be detained than whites
• Hispanic clients 5% more likely to be detained than whites
• This racial disparity is highly statistically significant.
• Means race alone is driving those higher rates of  detention.

Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 18, 25

Racial Disparities in Federal Pretrial Detention

Federal Pretrial Detention Rates 
by Race and Gender
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Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 22
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Federal Pretrial Detention Rates by Race 
Over Time

Remind judge § 3142(b) contains a 
presumption of  release

on personal recognizance

“SHALL ORDER. . . RELEASE”
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Presumption of  Release

“In our society liberty is the norm, and 
detention prior to trial . . . is the carefully 
limited exception.” United States v. Salerno, 

481 U.S. 739, 755 (1987).

FIGHT FOR OUR CLIENTS’ RELEASE
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Pretrial Detention -> Higher Sentences

“[F]ederal pretrial detention significantly increases 
sentences, decreases the probability that a defendant 

will receive a below-Guidelines sentence, and 
decreases the probability that they will avoid a 

mandatory minimum if  facing one.”
Stephanie Didwania, The Immediate Consequences of  Pretrial Detention, at 30 

Am. L. Econ. Rev. (forthcoming 2020), 
https://ssrn.com/abstract=2809818

Detention -> Society Less Safe

Pretrial Detention Increases Risk of  Recidivism
• Paul Heaton, et al., The Downstream Consequences of  Misdemeanor Pretrial Detention, 

69 STAN. L. REV. 711, 718 (2017), archived at https://perma.cc/R99T-
5F2J(finding that, eighteen months post-hearing, pretrial detention is 
associated with a 30% increase in new felony charges and a 20% increase in 
new misdemeanor charges).

• Christopher T. Lowenkamp, The Hidden Costs of  Pretrial Detention, THE LAURA
AND JOHN ARNOLD FOUNDATION (2013), archived at 
https://perma.cc/XK2P-3UZT (regression analysis shows strong correlation 
between detention and future offending, even after taking into account risk 
level and offense type); id. at 22–23 (finding increased recidivism even two 
years after pretrial detention). 
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FCJC Federal Bail Reform Project: 
Courtwatching Initiative

•70 volunteers
•10 weeks
•Gathered and logged data
•172 hearings over 10 weeks
• 106 initial appearance hearings/arraignments
• 66 detention hearings

•90% of  clients were people of  color

Racial Disparities 
in Federal Pretrial Detention

FCJC Courtwatching Findings (N.D. Ill.)
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Initial Appearance:
Gov’t Detention Requests by Race
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Source: Federal Criminal Justice Clinic 2019 Courtwatching Project, Preliminary Findings

Detention Hearing:
Gov’t Detention Requests by Race
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Courtwatching: 
Detention Rates by Race
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Source: Federal Criminal Justice Clinic 2019 Courtwatching Project, Preliminary Findings

Government & Judges Violate the Bail 
Reform Act (18 U.S.C. § 3142)

•We must remind everyone that B.R.A. is the law.
•We must ensure compliance with the law to 
ameliorate race disparities.
•We must remind everyone of  what the B.R.A. says.
•We must file written bond motions & appeal
•CHANGE THE CULTURE
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^`qflk=pqbmp
Ñçê=_ìëíáåÖ=_çåÇ=jóíÜë=~åÇ=rëáåÖ=

íÜÉ=pí~íìíÉ=~ë=~=pïçêÇ
• fåáíá~ä=^ééÉ~ê~åÅÉ
• aÉíÉåíáçå=eÉ~êáåÖ

fåáíá~ä=^ééÉ~ê~åÅÉ=eÉ~êáåÖ
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Initial Appearance Hearing: Problem

•Government requests detention on grounds 
not authorized in the Bail Reform Act.
•Result: Clients detained illegally

Initial Appearance Hearing: Problem

“qÜÉ=ÖçîÉêåãÉåí=áë=ãçîáåÖ=Ñçê=ÇÉíÉåíáçå=
ÄÉÅ~ìëÉ=íÜÉ=ÇÉÑÉåÇ~åí=áë=~=Ç~åÖÉê íç=íÜÉ=

Åçããìåáíó=~åÇ=~=êáëâ=çÑ=ÑäáÖÜíÁÒ
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Initial Appearance Hearing: Problem

Danger to the community
NOT a legal basis for detention

Ordinary risk of  flight
NOT a legal basis for detention

Illegal to Detain As Danger/Ordinary ROF

1. Plain language of  Bail Reform Act, 18 
U.S.C. § 3142(f)

2. United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 747 
(1987)

3. Courts of  Appeals caselaw
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Illegal to Detain Client without “F” Factor

•Detention is only legally authorized if  one of  the 7 “(f) 
factors” is present.
•STATUTE: § 3142(f): “The judicial officer shall hold a 
[detention] hearing” only “in a case that involves” one 
of  seven factors.

Initial Appearance Law: 7 “F” Factors
•§ 3142(f)(1): Case specific 

• Crimes of  violence (e.g., bank robbery)
• Offense with max of  life or death
• Drugs
• Guns (924(c), 922(g)), Minor victim, Terrorism
• Recent recidivists (v. rare)

•§ 3142(f)(2): Subjective  
• “serious risk” of  flight (SROF)
• “serious risk” threat to witness/juror.

•NOT DANGER TO THE COMMUNITY! 
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(F)(1) Factor: Types of  Cases

No (F)(1) Factor* Yes (F)(1) Factor
- Fraud/Financial crime -Crimes of  violence 
- Postal theft/bank theft/ID theft -Drugs
- Extortion -Guns: 924(c), 922(g)
- Alien smuggling -Minor victim
- Illegal reentry -Terrorism
*NO DETN unless serious risk of  flight (f)(2)(A)

When no (F)(1) factor exists…

(f)(2)(A): “Serious risk that such person will flee” 
• Only possible basis for detention
• But prosecutor must present EVIDENCE
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Initial Appearance Hearing:
Illegal to Detain Client Without “F” Factor

6 Courts of  Appeals Agree; None Disagree
• 1st Circuit: United States v. Ploof, 851 F.2d 7, 11 (1st Cir. 1988)

• 2nd Circuit: United States v. Friedman, 837 F.2d 48, 49 (2d Cir. 1988)

• 3rd Circuit: United States v. Himler, 797 F.2d 156, 160 (3d Cir. 1986)

• 5th Circuit: United States v. Byrd, 969 F.2d 106, 109 (5th Cir. 1992)

• 9th Circuit: United States v. Twine, 344 F.3d 987, 987 (9th Cir. 2003)

• DC Circuit: United States v. Singleton, 182 F.3d 7, 9 (D.C. Cir. 1999)

Illegal to Detain Client w/o “F” Factor

“`çåÖêÉëë=ÇáÇ=åçí=áåíÉåÇ=íç=~ìíÜçêáòÉ=éêÉîÉåíáîÉ=
ÇÉíÉåíáçå=ìåäÉëë=íÜÉ=àìÇáÅá~ä=çÑÑáÅÉê=Ñáêëí=ÑáåÇë=íÜ~í=
çåÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=¬ PNQOEÑ F=ÅçåÇáíáçåë=Ñçê=ÜçäÇáåÖ=~=

ÇÉíÉåíáçå=ÜÉ~êáåÖ=ÉñáëíëKÒ=

råáíÉÇ=pí~íÉë=îK=mäççÑI=URN=cKOÇ=TI=NN=ENëí=`áêK=
NVUUF
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Illegal to Detain Client as Danger

tÜÉå=åçåÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=“ëìÄëÉÅíáçå=EÑ FENF=ÅçåÇáíáçåë=
x~êÉz=ãÉíI=éêÉíêá~ä=ÇÉíÉåíáçå=ëçäÉäó=çå=íÜÉ=ÖêçìåÇ=
çÑ=Ç~åÖÉêçìëåÉëë=íç=~åçíÜÉê=éÉêëçå=çê=íç=íÜÉ=

Åçããìåáíó=áë=åçí=~ìíÜçêáòÉÇKÒ=

U.S. v. Ploof, 851 F.2d 7, 12 (1st Cir. 1988); see also U.S. v. 
Twine, 344 F.3d 987, 987 (9th Cir. 2003); rKpK=îK=_óêÇI=VSV=

cKOÇ=NMSI=NNM=ERíÜ=`áêK=NVVOF

No “F” Factor = Constitutional Problem

The Supreme Court upheld the B.R.A. as constitutional 
in Salerno because § 3142(f) serves as a gatekeeper 

• The Bail Reform Act carefully limits the circumstances under which detention may 
be sought to the most serious crimes. See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f) (detention 
hearings available if case involves crime of  violence, offenses for which 
the sentence is life imprisonment or death, serious drug offenders, or 
certain repeat offenders).” United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 747 
(1987).

• “The [B.R.A.] narrowly focuses on a particularly acute problem . . . . The 
Act operates ONLY on individuals who have been arrested for a specific 
category of  extremely serious offenses. 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f)” Id. at 750.
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Great Opinion re Detention for 
Danger/Serious Risk of  Flight

“̂ åó=êÉ~ÇáåÖ=çÑ=íÜÉ=x_o^z=íÜ~í=~ääçïë=Ç~åÖÉê=íç=íÜÉ=
Åçããìåáíó=~ë=íÜÉ=ëçäÉ=ÖêçìåÇ=Ñçê=ÇÉí~áåáåÖ=~=ÇÉÑÉåÇ~åí=
ïÜÉêÉ=ÇÉíÉåíáçå=ï~ë=ãçîÉÇ=Ñçê=çåäó=ìåÇÉê=EÑ FEOFE^F=
êìåë=íÜÉ=êáëâ=çÑ=ìåÇÉêÅìííáåÖ=çåÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=ê~íáçå~äÉë=íÜ~í=

äÉÇ=íÜÉ=p~äÉêåç `çìêí=íç=ìéÜçäÇ=íÜÉ=ëí~íìíÉ=~ë=
Åçåëíáíìíáçå~äKÒ=

råáíÉÇ=pí~íÉë=îK=aÉîçå=dáÄëçåI=OWNVJ`oJQMJmmpJgmh=
EkKaK=fåÇK=j~ó=OUI=OMNVF

INITIAL APPEARANCE HEARING

No “F” Factor 
=> 

No Detention Hearing
=>

IMMEDIATE RELEASE
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Initial Appearance: 
If  no “F” factor Two Options for Release 

•Release on personal recognizance or an unsecured 
appearance bond; OR
•Release on conditions IF judge believes personal 
recognizance or an unsecured appearance bond “will not 
reasonably assure the appearance of  the person . . . or 
will endanger the safety of  any other person or the 
community”
•Either way, release is mandatory!

FCJC Chicago Courtwatching Data: 
Initial Appearance

Results:

Bond statute is regularly disregarded 

and sometimes violated.
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FCJC Chicago Courtwatching Data: 
Initial Appearance

Out of  the 69 initial appearances in first 7 weeks

•Gov’t sought detention in 80% (55 of  69)

•All but 1 detained until a detention hrg (54 of  55)

•95% of  cases where govt seeking detn (52/55) 

GOV’T DID NOT CITE AN (F) FACTOR!!!!!

Initial Appearance: Factors Cited by Gov’t to 
Support Detention Request (7 wks) 
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Courtwatching Data: Initial Appearance

Clients were detained 
ILLEGALLY in 11% of  cases

•No (f)(1) factor
•No evidence of  (f)(2)(A) serious risk of  flight

Courtwatching Data: Initial Appearance

Clients were detained without (f)(1) 
factor in 25% of  cases

•Adds illegal reentry cases to the previous slide
•No evidence of  (f)(2)(A) serious risk of  flight
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Initial Appearance:
F-Factors Contribute to Race Disparities

Source: John Scalia, Federal Pretrial Release and Detention, 1996 10 (1999). 
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ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance

1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)

2) If  no (f)(1) factor, OBJECT to Detention 
Hearing as illegal & request immediate release

^K lÄàÉÅí=áÑ=dçîí `ä~áãë=lêÇáå~êó=oáëâ=çÑ=cäáÖÜí
_K lÄàÉÅí=áÑ=dçîí `ä~áãë=a~åÖÉê=íç=`çããìåáíó
C. Types of  cases: fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc
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ACTION STEP #2A: 
If  Govt’s Basis is Risk of  Flight

“qÜÉ=ÖçîÉêåãÉåí=áë=ãçîáåÖ=Ñçê=ÇÉíÉåíáçå=
ÄÉÅ~ìëÉ=íÜÉ=ÇÉÑÉåÇ~åí=áë=~=êáëâ=çÑ=ÑäáÖÜíKÒ

ACTION STEP #2A: 
If  Govt’s Basis is Risk of  Flight (ROF)

NK lÄàÉÅíW=pçãÉ=êáëâ=çÑ=ÑäáÖÜí=áå=ÉîÉêó=
Å~ëÉX=åç=ÉîáÇÉåÅÉ=áíÛë=“ëÉêáçìëÒ=ÜÉêÉK

OK dçîí ãìëí=éêÉëÉåí=ëçãÉ=ÉîáÇÉåÅÉ=íç=
ÇÉãçåëíê~íÉ=“ëÉêáçìëÒ=olcK

PK mêÉëÉåí=çìê=çïå=ÉîáÇÉåÅÉ=íÜ~í=ÅäáÉåí=
ÇçÉë=åçí=éçëÉ=“ëÉêáçìëÒ=olcK
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ACTION STEP #2B: 
If  Govt’s Basis is Danger to Community

“qÜÉ=ÖçîÉêåãÉåí=áë=ãçîáåÖ=Ñçê=ÇÉíÉåíáçå=
ÄÉÅ~ìëÉ=íÜÉ=ÇÉÑÉåÇ~åí=áë=~=Ç~åÖÉê=íç=íÜÉ=

ÅçããìåáíóKÒ

ACTION STEP #2B: 
If  Govt’s Basis is Danger/Financial Danger

•FRAUD CASE—judge cannot detain as “financial 
danger.”

• Only legal basis: “Serious risk that such person will 
flee” under (f)(2)(A)
•Requires government to present EVIDENCE



2/17/2020

30

ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance
1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)
2) If  no (f)(1) factor—fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc—

OBJECT to detention hearing as illegal!
3) File written motion if  only basis is serious risk of  

flight (SROF): Template Defendant’s Motion for 
Immediate Release With Conditions

• Client should only be detained as a SROF in a “rare case of  
extreme and unusual circumstances.” United States v. Abrahams, 
575 F.2d 3, 8 (1st Cir. 1978) (relied on in BRA’s legislative history).

ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance
1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)
2) If  no (f)(1) factor—fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc—

OBJECT to detention hearing as illegal!
3) File written motion if  SROF: Template Defendant’s 

Motion for Immediate Release With Conditions

4) Appeal to DCT if  basis is danger: Template 
Defendant’s Appeal of  Magistrate Judge’s Detention 
Order
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ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance
1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)
2) If  no (f)(1) factor—fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc—

OBJECT to detention hearing as illegal!
3) File written motion if  SROF: Template Defendant’s 

Motion for Immediate Release With Conditions: “rare 
case of  extreme and unusual circumstances”

4) Appeal to DCT if  danger: Template Defendant’s Appeal 
of  Magistrate Judge’s Detention Order 

5) Appeal to COA

ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance
1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)
2) If  no (f)(1) factor—fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc—

OBJECT to detention hearing as illegal!
3) File written motion if  SROF: Template Defendant’s 

Motion for Immediate Release With Conditions: “rare 
case of  extreme and unusual circumstances”

4) Appeal to DCT if  danger: Template Defendant’s Appeal 
of  Magistrate Judge’s Detention Order 

5) Appeal to COA
6) Ask USAO to file motion listing (f) factor(s)
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Initial Appearance: Gov’t Best Practices
File Motion re (F) Factors & (E) Presumptions

ACTION STEPS: Initial Appearance
1) Ask Gov’t what (f) factor (Checklist & Flowchart)
2) If  no (f)(1) factor—fraud, illegal reentry, extortion, etc—

OBJECT to detention hearing as illegal!
3) File written motion if  SROF: Template Defendant’s Motion 

for Immediate Release With Conditions: “rare case of  
extreme and unusual circumstances”

4) Appeal to DCT if  danger: Template Defendant’s Appeal of  
Magistrate Judge’s Detention Order 

5) Appeal to COA
6) Ask USAO to file motion listing (f) factor(s)

7) Ask for DH to be held < 3 days later
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ACTION STEP #7: 
Ask for DH to be held < 3 days later

¬ 3142(f): “The hearing shall be held IMMEDIATELY
upon the person’s first appearance unless that person, or 
the attorney for the Government, seeks a continuance. 
Except for good cause, a continuance on motion of  
[client] may not exceed five days . . . and a continuance on 
motion of  the attorney for the Government may not 
exceed three days.”

Timing of  Pretrial Services Report

•Pretrial does not prepare Pretrial Services Report for 
initial appearance.
• Judge will detain client to wait for Pretrial Report.

Waiting for PTS Report is not an “F” factor and is 
not a legit basis for detention!
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Pretrial Report Best Practices: 
Provide a Full Report at Initial Appearance
^ë=Ü~ééÉåë=áå=íÜÉëÉ=~åÇ=ã~åó=ãçêÉ=ÇáëíêáÅíëW

pakv `a`^ aK=^wK baqk

tatf baK ^ohK aK=ksK aK=rqK

bajf kad^ aK=loK tas^

aK=kgK aK=jaK jam^ tam^

kaci tai^ aK p`K pajp

pa`^=EúTM=
~êê~áÖåãÉåíëLÇ~óF

Take advantage of  the 
opportunity to interview clients 
before the Initial Appearance! 
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aÉíÉåíáçå=eÉ~êáåÖ

Problem: Waiver of Detention Hearing

Detained 
without Hearing

330
37%

Ordered Detained 
at Detention 
Hearing
138
15%

Released at 
Detention 
Hearing
164
18%

Released at 
Initial 

Appearance
265
30%

37% of defendants waived 
detention hearing in 2017 
in Chicago

(Pretrial Services data)
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Detention 
Hearing Waived

35%

Detention 
Hearing Held

65%

35% of defendants waived 
detention hearing in first 7 
weeks

(2018-19 FCJC Courtwatching data)

Problem: Waiver of Detention Hearing

Detention 
Hearing Waived

22%

Detention 
Hearing Held

78%

22% of defendants waived 
detention hearing in final 3 
weeks

(2018-19 FCJC Courtwatching data)

Problem: Waiver of Detention Hearing
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40% of clients released when 
defense fights at detention 
hearing!

(2018-19 FCJC Courtwatching data)

Ordered Detained 
at Detention 
Hearing
60%

Released at 
Detention 
Hearing
40%

Solution: Hold Detention Hearing

GENERAL RULE:
DON’T WAIVE DETENTION 

HEARINGS!
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aÉíÉåíáçå=eÉ~êáåÖW=¬ PNQOEÉF
tÜÉå=kç=mêÉëìãéíáçå=çÑ=aÉíÉåíáçå=^ééäáÉë

ACTION STEP #1 

Remind judge § 3142(b) contains a 
presumption of  release

on personal recognizance

“SHALL ORDER. . . RELEASE”
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ACTION STEP #1 
Presumption of  Release

“In our society liberty is the norm, and 
detention prior to trial . . . is the carefully 
limited exception.” United States v. Salerno, 

481 U.S. 739, 755 (1987).

ACTION STEP #2

•Remind judge must consider all 
possible conditions of  release 
•And must impose “least restrictive” 
conditions under § 3142(c)(1)(B)
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ACTION STEP #3: 
Remind judge govt bears burden of  proof

•Must prove risk of  flight at least by 
preponderance
•Must prove dangerousness by clear & 
convincing evidence

ACTION STEP #4 

Remind judge we don’t have to guarantee
appearance/safety. 

The statutory question is whether there 
are conditions of  release that will 

“reasonably assure” appearance/safety.
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ACTION STEP #5 
Ensure client isn’t detained b/c poor

•`äÉ~ê=êìäÉW=“qÜÉ=àìÇáÅá~ä=çÑÑáÅÉê=ã~ó=åçí=áãéçëÉ=~=
Ñáå~åÅá~ä=ÅçåÇáíáçå=íÜ~í=êÉëìäíë=áå=íÜÉ=éêÉíêá~ä=
ÇÉíÉåíáçå=çÑ=íÜÉ=éÉêëçåKÒ=PNQOEÅFEOFK
•gìÇÖÉë=îáçä~íÉ=EÅFEOF=~ää=íÜÉ=íáãÉK
•aÉíÉåíáçå=ÄLÅ=åç=ëçäîÉåí=ëìêÉíóJ[îáçä~íÉë=EÅFEOF
•aÉíÉåíáçå=ÄLÅ=qm`=åç=AAJ[îáçä~íÉë=EÅFEOF

Home-ownership Varies By Race:
Property Requirements Violate 3142(c)(2)

Source: Report of  the Working Committees to the Second Circuit Task Force on Gender, Racial and Ethnic Fairness in the Courts, 1997 Ann. Surv. 
Am. L. 117, 317–18 (1997).
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mêÉëìãéíáçå=çÑ=aÉíÉåíáçåW=
¬ PNQOEÉFEPF

aêìÖëI=VOQEÅFI=jáåçê=sáÅíáãI=qÉêêçêáëã

FCJC Chicago Courtwatching Data: 
Detention Hearing & Presumption

Of  cases w/contested detention hrgs in 10 wks (42)

• Presumption of  detention applied in 40% (17)
• Judge found presumption rebutted in 64% of  presumption cases (11 

of  17)
• But judges detained clients in 47% of  presumption cases (8 of  17)
• Judges detained in 67% of  presumption cases involving Black clients.
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Presumption of  Detention 
Impact on clients of  color (NDIL)

Source: Federal Criminal Justice Clinic 2019 Courtwatching Project, Preliminary Findings

6%

35%

24%

24%

11%

White Black Hispanic Middle Eastern Other

In 17 cases, a 
presumption of  

detention applied. 
Only 6% of  the 

presumption clients 
were White.

Presumption of  Detention 
Impact on clients of  color (NDIL)

Source: Federal Criminal Justice Clinic 2019 Courtwatching Project, Preliminary Findings
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Nationally, “[a]mong female defendants, black and 
Hispanic defendants are more likely to be 
subject to a presumption of  detention than 

similarly-situated white defendants…”

Federal Pretrial Detention Rates and Race

Source: Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons for the Future of  Bail Reform by Stephanie Holmes Didwania, p. 29

PRESUMPTION CASES: 
CHANGE THE CULTURE
(DH Checklist & Flowchart)
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ACTION STEP #1: 
Presumption of  Detention

håçï=ïÜÉå=íÜÉ=éêÉëìãéíáçå=~ééäáÉë
•jçëí=ÇêìÖ=Å~ëÉë
•VOQEÅF=Öìå=Å~ëÉë
•jáåçê=îáÅíáã=Å~ëÉë

NO Presumption of  Detention!!! 
• Crimes of  Violence
• 922(g) gun cases
•Illegal reentry
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ACTION STEP #2: 
Presumption of  Detention

cáäÉ=têáííÉå=_çåÇ=jçíáçåë=ÄÉÑçêÉ=ae
EëÉÉ=íÉãéä~íÉ=aÉÑÉåÇ~åíÛë=jçíáçå=Ñçê=
mêÉíêá~ä=oÉäÉ~ëÉ=áå=mêÉëìãéíáçå=`~ëÉF

ACTION STEP #3: 
Presumption of  Detention

bñéä~áå=Üçï=É~ëáäó=íÜÉ=éêÉëìãéíáçå=áë=
êÉÄìííÉÇ=Eçê~ääó=C=áå=ãçíáçåF
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ACTION STEP #3: Explain How Easily 
the Presumption is Rebutted

• Just need “some evidence” to rebut the presumption. 
• United States v. Jessup, 757 F.2d 378, 384 (1st Cir. 1985)

• Including any evidence under § 3142(g). Id. at 384, 389. 
• Any “evidence of  economic and social stability.” United 

States v. Dominguez, 783 F.2d 702, 707 (7th Cir. 1986).
• “evidence of  [client’s] marital, family and employment status”: 

married/partner; minor children
• “ties to and role in the community”
• “clean criminal record”; minimal criminal history
• Lack of  drug history
• Lack of  mental health history
• ANYTHING ELSE in § 3142(g)

ACTION STEP #3: Explain How Easily 
the Presumption is Rebutted

Evidence that rebutted the presumption in Dominguez:
• Ds were lawful U.S. residents, but not U.S. citizens
• Ds were employed as a mechanic and a welder
• Married 
• No criminal record
• Family in Florida and Nevada; defendant in Chicago



2/17/2020

48

ACTION STEP #3: Explain How Easily 
the Presumption is Rebutted

• 1st Circuit: United States v. Jessup, 757 F.2d 378, 384 
(1st Cir. 1985)
• 2nd Circuit: United States v. Chimurenga, 760 F.2d 
400, 405 (2d Cir. 1985)
• 7th Circuit: United States v. Dominguez, 783 F.2d 
702, 707 (7th Cir. 1986)
•D.C. Circuit: United States v. Alatishe, 768 F.2d 364, 
371 (D.C. Cir. 1985)

ACTION STEP #3

Once presumption is rebutted, it’s just one factor 
• “[T]he presumption is just one factor among many.” Jessup at 384. 

• It “does not disappear,” but must be weighed against good evidence.
• “[T]he presumption does not disappear, but rather retains 

evidentiary weight . . . [and must] be considered along with all the 
other relevant factors.” U.S. v. Palmer-Contreras, 835 F.2d 15, 18 (1st 
Cir. 1987); see also Dominguez at 707.

• “[T]he judge should then still keep in mind . . . that Congress has 
found that [such] offenders, as a general rule, pose special risks of  
flight.” Jessup, 757 F.2d at 384. 

• “The judge may still conclude that what is true in general is not 
true in the particular case before him.” Id.
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ACTION STEP #3

Once presumption is rebutted, it’s just one factor
• The presumption “does not impose a burden of  persuasion 

upon the defendant.” Jessup, 757 F.2d at 384; Dominguez, 783 
F.2d at 707 (“[T]he burden of  persuasion remains with the 
government” at all times and never shifts to the defense.).
• *Means government bears the burden of  convincing the 

judge that detention is warranted despite all of  the evidence 
of  social stability client presented.*

ACTION STEP #3

If  judges expect client to prove not a 
danger/flight risk, the presumption arguably 

violates Due Process. 
• The constitutionality of  the presumption depends in part on 

the fact that the defendant does not bear the burden of  
proving that he is NOT a danger or a flight risk. 
• Jessup, 757 F.2d at 386 (“Given [inter alia]. . . the fact that the 

presumption does not shift the burden of  persuasion, . . . the 
presumptions restrictions on the defendant’s liberty are 
constitutionally permissible.”).
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ACTION STEP #4: 
Remind judge govt bears burden of  proof

•3142(e): Gov’t bears burden of  proving 
“no condition or combination of  
conditions” 
•That will “reasonably assure”
•(1) Client’s appearance
•(2) Safety of  the community

ACTION STEP #5: Structure Argument around 
Conditions of  Release: § 3142(c)(1)(B)

•Third-party custodian
•Maintain/get employment
•Maintain/start education
•Restrictions on travel/living/EM/GPS
•Curfew
•Refrain from excessive alcohol/all drugs
•Undergo psych treatment
•Post property
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ACTION STEP #6: Structure Argument around 
Factors re ROF/Danger: § 3142(g)

“Unfortunately neither party spoke directly to the 
statutory factors governing this Court’s decision 

[nor] frame[d] their evidence as specifically falling 
under the umbrella of  any of  those factors or as 
related to flight, safety or both.” Torres-Rosario, 

600 F. Supp. 2d at 336.

ACTION STEP #6: Structure Argument 
around Factors re ROF/Danger: § 3142(g)

• Nature and circumstances of  offense

• History & characteristics, including
• Family ties
• Employment ties
• Length of  time in the community
• History of  drug/alcohol abuse
• Physical/mental condition
• Criminal History
• On parole, probation, supervision, bond
• Record concerning appearance in court

• Weight of  evidence: Least important factor
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ACTION STEP #6: Structure Argument 
around Factors re ROF/Danger: § 3142(g)

•Weight of  the evidence is “the least important” 
factor. 
• United States v. Townsend, 897 F.2d 989, 994 (9th Cir. 

1990)
•Placing too much emphasis on the weight of  the 
evidence creates an impermissible “presumption 
of  guilt.” 
• United States v. Gray, 651 F. Supp. 432, 436 (W.D. Ark. 

1987)

ACTION STEP #7:
Explain problems w/the presumption

Drugs/Guns Presumption of  Detention 
applied to 42-45% of  all federal cases 

(2005-2015)

Amaryllis Austin, The Presumption for Detention Statute’s Relationship to Release 
Rates, Federal Probation 52, 55 (Sept. 2017)
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ACTION STEP #7:
Explain problems w/the presumption

• “The presumption has contributed to a massive 
increase in the federal pretrial detention rate, with all of  
the social and economic costs associated with high rates of  
incarceration.” Amaryllis Austin, The Presumption for Detention Statute’s 
Relationship to Release Rates, Federal Probation 52, 61 (Sept. 2017). 

• The drug/gun presumption dramatically limits pretrial release for the 
lowest-risk offenders. Id. at 57 (“[W]ere it not for the existence of  the 
presumption, these defendants might be released at higher rates.”). 

• The presumption does a bad job of  predicting whether clients on 
pretrial release will recidivate or FTA. Id. at 58 (“[H]igh risk presumption 
cases were found to pose no greater risk (or in some cases, less risk) than high-
risk non-presumption cases of  being rearrested for any offense, being 
rearrested for a violent offense, failing to appear, or being revoked for 
technical violations.”).

Presumption Criticized By Judiciary

In 2017, the Judicial Conference of  the United States 
asked Congress to limit the presumption of  detention 

in drug cases to people with very serious criminal 
records. 

(This rec was based on the study in the previous slide.)

http://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/17-sep_final_0.pdf
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ACTION STEP #8: 
Presumption of  Detention

Appeal to DCT & Appeal to COA

ACTION STEP #9: 
Keep Clients Released Pending Sent’g

Avoid post-conviction detention under 3143(a)(2) 
by using 3145(c): 

“A person subject to detention pursuant to 
3143(a)(2) or (b)(2) … may be ordered released 

. . . if  it is clearly shown that there are 
exceptional reasons why such person’s 
detention would not be appropriate.”
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ACTION STEPS: 
Detention Hearing & Presumption of  Detention

1) Know the presumptions and when they apply
2) File motions in presumption cases
3) Explain how easily the presumption is rebutted (orally & in 

motion)
4) Remind judges gov’t bears burden of  proving there are no

conditions that will “reasonably assure” appearance
5) Structure argument around conditions of  release
6) Structure argument around § 3142(g) factors
7) Explain problems with the presumption and judicial conference 

recommendation
8) Appeal to District Court & Court of  Appeals
9) Use § 3145 to avoid post-conviction detention in § 3143(a)(2)
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Bond for Non-Citizen Clients

ICE cannot detain client after release on bond
• United States v. Ailon-Ailon, 875 F.3d 1334, 1338 (10th Cir. 2017) (the Executive Branch has a 

choice to make when it concludes that a noncitizen violated federal law: proceed “with a 
prosecution in federal district court or with removal of  the deportable alien.”).

• United States v. Trujillo-Alvarez, 900 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1170 (D. OR. 2012) (if  a judge releases a 
client on bond, “the Executive Branch may no longer keep that person in physical custody. 
To do so would be a violation of  the BRA and the court’s order of  pretrial release.”).

• United States v. Boutin, 269 F. Supp. 3d 24, 26 (E.D.N.Y. 2017), appeal withdrawn, No. 18-194, 
2018 WL 1940385 (2d Cir. Feb. 22, 2018) (“When an Article III court has ordered a 
defendant released, the retention of  a defendant in ICE custody contravenes a determination 
made pursuant to the Bail Reform Act.”).

• But see United States v. Veloz-Alonso, 910 F.3d 266, 268–69 (6th Cir. 2018) (holding a federal 
judge does not have the authority to order ICE not to detain or deport a person released on 
bond in a federal criminal case). 

Bond for Non-Citizen Clients: DOJ Data

• “Illegal aliens” have same low rate of  non-
appearance as citizens: FTA 1% of  the time. 
• U.S. Dept. of  Justice Bureau of  Justice Statistics, Pretrial Release and Misconduct in 

Federal District Courts, 2008–2010, at 15 (Nov. 2012), 
https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/prmfdc0810.pdf

• “Illegal aliens” MORE likely to comply with other 
conditions of  release and LESS likely to have bond 
revoked than citizens. Id.
•Proof  that “illegal aliens” do not pose higher risk of  
flight or violation than citizens.
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Bond for Non-Citizen Clients
Initial Appearance Law

•Only basis for detention is serious risk of  flight 
under 3142(f)(2)(A); NOT DANGER
• ICE detainer is not evidence of  SROF

• United States v. Ailon-Ailon, 875 F.3d 1334, 1338 (10th Cir. 2017) (“a risk of  involuntary 
removal does not establish a serious risk that [the defendant] will flee”)

• United States v. Santos-Flores, 794 F.3d 1088, 1091 (9th Cir. 2015) (“the risk of  
nonappearance referenced in 18 U.S.C. § 3142 must involve an element of  volition”)

• United States v. Villatoro-Ventura, 330 F. Supp. 3d 1118, 1135–36 (N.D. Iowa 2018)
• United States v. Suastegui, No. 3:18-MJ-00018, 2018 WL 3715765, at *4 (W.D. Va. Aug. 3, 

2018)
• United States v. Marinez-Patino, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26234 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 14, 2011)

Bond for Non-Citizen Clients
Initial Appearance Law, cont.

•Federal judge cannot deny bond to a removable 
alien based on his immigration status or the 
existence of  an ICE detainer.
• United States v. Sanchez-Rivas, 752 F. App’x 601, 604 (10th Cir. 2018) (defendant “cannot 

be detained solely because he is a removable alien”)
• United States v. Santos-Flores, 794 F.3d 1088, 1091 (9th Cir. 2015) 
• United States v. Barrera-Omana, 638 F. Supp. 2d 1108, 1111 (D. Minn. 2009) (mere presence 

of  an ICE detainer does not override § 3142(g))
• United States v. Chavez-Rivas, 536 F. Supp. 2d 962, 968 (E.D. Wis. 2008) (“[I]t would be 

improper to consider only defendant’s immigration status, to the exclusion of  the §
3142(g) factors, as the government suggests.”)
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Bond for Non-Citizen Clients
Initial Appearance Law, cont.

• If  there’s an ICE detainer and government believes 
ICE plans to detain and deport client, he is per se 
NOT a risk of  flight b/c his absence is involuntary. 
• “As long as Defendant remains in the custody of  the 

executive branch, albeit with ICE instead of  the Attorney 
General, the risk of  his flight is admittedly nonexistent.” 
U.S. v. Mendoza-Balleza, 4:19-CR-1 (E.D. Tenn. May 23, 2019) 
(McDonough, J.) (noting that, according to the government, 
“If  [this] Court does not detain Defendant, ICE will 
immediately detain him and deport him within ninety days.”).

Non-Citizen Client Released!
U.S. v. Magana, 19-CR-447 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 1, 2019)
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Bond for Non-Citizen Clients
Detention Hearing Law

•The presumption of  release applies
•No presumption of  detention in non-citizen cases

• United States v. Ailon-Ailon, 875 F.3d 1334, 1338 (10th Cir. 2017) 
(“[A]lthough Congress established a rebuttable presumption that 
certain defendants should be detained, it did not include removable 
aliens on that list.” ).

Bond for Non-Citizen Clients
Illegal Reentry/Alien Smuggling Cases

At Initial Appearance & Detention Hearing,
counter SERIOUS risk of  flight w/evidence

•Ties to community
•Employment
• Stale criminal history
•Anything under 3142(g)
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CHANGING THE SYSTEM

Andrew Grindrod
AFPD in EDVA &

Former Federal Criminal Justice Clinic student

1. Stephanie Holmes Didwania, Race, Gender, and Detention in the Federal Courts: Lessons 
for the Future of  Bail Reform, publishing soon

2. Brian A. Reaves, Pretrial Release of  Federal Felony Defendants, 1990 (1994)
3. John Scalia, Federal Pretrial Release and Detention, 1996 (1999)
4. Cassia Spohn, Race, Gender, and Pretrial Detention: Indirect Effects and Cumulative 

Disadvantage, 57 Kan. L. Rev. 879 (2009)
5. Thomas H. Cohen, Pretrial Release and Misconduct in Federal District Courts, 2008–2010 

(2012) 
6. Matthew G. Rowland, The Rising Federal Pretrial Detention Rate, in Context, Fed. 

Probation, September 2018
7. Report of  the Special Committee on Race and Ethnicity to the D.C. Circuit Task Force on 

Gender, Race, and Ethnic Bias Special Committee on Race and Ethnicity, 64 Geo. Wash. L. 
Rev. 189 (1996)

8. Report of  the Working Committees to the Second Circuit Task Force on Gender, Racial and 
Ethnic Fairness in the Courts, 1997 Ann. Surv. Am. L. 117 (1997)

9. Federal Criminal Justice Clinic 2019 Courtwatching Project, preliminary results

Federal Pretrial Detention Rates and Race 
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